FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/12/2019 2:49 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

> Supreme Court No. 97069-6 Court of Appeals No. 77770-0-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BELLEVUE SQUARE, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Petitioner,

v.

WHOLE FOODS MARKET PACIFIC NORTHWEST, INC., a Delaware corporation; and WHOLE FOODS MARKET, INC., a Texas corporation,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Nold Muchinsky PLLC

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Bellevue Square, LLC ("Bellevue Square" or "Landlord"), Plaintiff in the trial court and Respondent at the Court of Appeals, respectfully petitions this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in Part II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION FOR REVIEW

Bellevue Square seeks review of the published decision issued by Division I of the Court of Appeals dated December 17, 2018. (App. A.) Bellevue Square's timely filed motion for reconsideration was denied through an order dated March 13, 2019. (App. B.)

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Whether an express operating covenant is enforceable.

B. Whether an appellate court errs when it reviews *de novo* a trial court's factual findings material to contract interpretation.

C. Whether an appellate court errs when it fails to consider extrinsic evidence that renders absurd a contract's "plain meaning."

D. Whether a Washington court can award "specific performance for the payment of money damages."

E. Whether the terms "damages" and "harms" are interchangeable under Washington law.

F. Whether a landlord's duty to mitigate its damages is inconsistent with a tenant's duty to operate.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background on the Parties.

Bellevue Square is a nationally recognized shopping center. (CP 334.) Whole Foods ("Tenant") has 474 stores in North America and the United Kingdom, 6 of which are "365 by Whole Foods." (CP 339; CP 343.) In August 2017, Amazon purchased Whole Foods in a deal valued at \$13.7 billion. (CP 271.)

B. The Parties Sign a Lease with an Operating Covenant.

1. Landlord Negotiates an Operating Covenant and the Remedy of Specific Performance for Breach of It.

Originally, the space at issue was occupied by JCPenney. Landlord commenced negotiations with Whole Foods regarding the space in November 2013. (CP 8.) JCPenney did not vacate until approximately one year after Landlord began to seek a successor tenant. (CP 497.)

Whole Foods initially sought to be excused from a duty to operate. Its original Letter of Intent provided: "Whole Foods shall have the right at any time and from time to time after opening for business in the Premises to cease conducting business in the Premises." (CP 36.)

This position was categorically unacceptable to Landlord. (CP 779.) All of its leases contain an operating covenant, because leases are not merely contracts to pay rent; a tenant's *operation* is an essential component of the benefit of Landlord's bargain. *Id*.

Thirteen drafts of the operating covenant were exchanged as Bellevue Square doggedly insisted on this right. (CP 663-741.) This extrinsic evidence was not disputed by Tenant.

Tenant eventually agreed to the following in Section 7.2(b):

Tenant covenants to conduct and carry on Tenant's business in the Demised Premises without interruption (excluding any temporary period during which Tenant is closed for rebuilding or repairs following a casualty or condemnation or by reason of any Force Majeure Events) for the first ten (10) Lease Years of the Demised Term ("**Tenant's Operating Covenant**") and, for so long as Tenant's Operating Covenant is in effect, shall keep the Demised Premises open for business at a minimum during the days and hours designated from time to time by Landlord...

(CP 170, underlining in original, boldface added.)

The first clause is an express operating covenant (the "Operating

Covenant"). (CP 170.) Section 7.2(b) contains two distinct duties: the

covenant to carry on business without interruption for ten years and,

independently, the duty to maintain certain hours. (CP 170.)

2. Injunctive Relief Was Expressly Negotiated as a Remedy for Breach of the Operating Covenant.

The Lease entitles Bellevue Square to specific performance:

10.1 Default by Tenant.

(a) Landlord's Remedies. If (i) default shall be made . . . Landlord may treat the occurrence of any one or more of the foregoing events as breach of this Lease (an "Event of Default"), and thereupon at its option may, without any additional notice or demand of any kind to Tenant or any other person, have its rights and remedies at law or in **equity**, or as provided in Section 10.1(b) below, subject only to the limitations thereon set forth in Section 10.1(c) below. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the occurrence of any one or more of the following shall constitute an Event of Default by Tenant, which default and breach shall give rise to Landlord's remedies, pursuant to this Section 10.1:

- (i) The abandonment of the Demised Premises by Tenant.
- * * * *
- (iii) Tenant's failure to observe or perform any of the other covenants, conditions or provisions of this Lease to be observed or performed by Tenant.

(b) <u>Landlord's Remedies</u>. In the event of any such default or breach by Tenant, Landlord may . . .

(i) <u>Terminate the Lease</u>. Terminate Tenant's right to possession of the Demised Premises by any lawful means . . .

(ii) <u>Continue the Lease</u>. Maintain Tenant's right to possession in which case this Lease shall continue in effect whether or not Tenant has vacated or abandoned the Demised Premises. In such event Landlord shall be entitled to enforce all Landlord's rights and remedies under this Lease, including the right to recover the Rent, damages from Tenant's default or breach, and any other payments as they may become due hereunder, and to specifically enforce Tenant's obligations hereunder and obtain injunctive relief from further defaults and breaches, and shall be entitled to enter the Demised Premises for the purpose of curing Tenant's failure to observe or perform any of the other covenants, conditions or provisions of this Lease to be observed or performed by Tenant, and in such case, Tenant shall pay the entire cost thereof as Additional Rent within one (1) month after receipt of an invoice therefor from landlord; or,

(iii) <u>Other Remedies</u>. Pursue any other remedy now or hereafter available to Landlord under the laws or judicial decisions of the State of Washington[.]

(CP 188-89, underlining in original, boldface added.)

Thus, Section 10.1(b)(ii) specifically preserves Bellevue Square's

right to specifically enforce Tenant's duty of continued operation.

3. Bellevue Square Agrees to "365 by Whole Foods" Concept in Reliance on a Ten Year Operating Covenant.

In June 2015, Whole Foods asked to abandon its traditional

concept in favor of "365 by Whole Foods." (CP 780.) In reliance on the

Operating Covenant and the credibility of Whole Foods, Landlord agreed.

(CP 9; CP 780.) The Lease was executed on July 23, 2015. (CP 10.)

C. Tenant Claims "Site Challenges" and Announces Closure.

One year into operations, sales did not meet Tenant's projections.

(CP 780.) Tenant asserts that it operated at a loss. (CP 775-77.) On

October 12, 2017, Tenant informed its employees that it intended to close

two days later. (CP 13.) Tenant informed Landlord of the closure 15 minutes before the start of the "Store Closing" sale. (CP 13; CP 780.) Tenant had known for months — prior to its acquisition by Amazon that it intended to close. (CP 343; CP 271.)

D. Bellevue Square Attempts to Mitigate Its Damages.

In the days immediately after Tenant's closure, Landlord learned that Tenant's premature abandonment and disparaging remarks in the press had tainted the space. (CP 773-74.) Landlord nonetheless promptly tried to mitigate its damages; a fact uncontroverted by Tenant. *Id.*

E. Bellevue Square Sues and Moves for Preliminary Injunction.

On October 24, 2017, Bellevue Square sued Tenant and promptly moved for a preliminary injunction to enforce the Operating Covenant. (CP 1-6; CP 300-33.)

On December 7, 2017, the trial court granted the preliminary injunction ("Order"). (CP 748-57.) The trial court reviewed the Lease and the voluminous extrinsic evidence of negotiations for the necessary context. It ruled on a mixed issue of law and fact that Bellevue Square was entitled to an injunction to enforce the Operating Covenant. (*See* CP 7-225; 334-48; 397-557; 663-741; 773-74; 778-83.)

Tenant successfully moved to stay enforcement pending review.

F. The Court of Appeals Reverses.

On December 17, 2018, Division One of the Court of Appeals

issued an opinion (the "Opinion") reversing the trial court. (App. A.)

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

This Court should accept review:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or \ldots (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

B. The Opinion's Holding Addresses an Issue of First Impression That Involve a Substantial Public Interest.

The holding of the Opinion addresses an issue of first impression

in Washington on a vital and emerging area of law: the enforceability of

operating covenants in commercial leases.

Courts in various jurisdictions have opined about whether an

operating covenant can be specifically enforced. They have addressed

nuanced aspects of the issue, including: the degree of harm that must be

established;¹ the extent to which judicial oversight is required;² and the clarity of the language necessary to establish an operating covenant.³

The Opinion reversed the equitable weighing of the trial court and refused to enforce the Operating Covenant on a different and fundamentally flawed ground: that Landlord has an express Operating Covenant, but its remedy of specific performance is limited to enforcing "further [monetary] defaults." (Opinion, pp. 13-14.)

Washington courts have specifically enforced landlords' nonmonetary lease obligations. In *Garbrick v. Franz*, 13 Wn.2d 427, 431, 125 P.2d 295 (1942), this Court affirmed the trial court's reformation and specific performance of a defective deed to enjoin a landlord from interfering with a tenant's possession and enjoyment until the expiration of the lease term. The *Garbrick* court stated: "It is well settled in this and many other states that a sufficient part performance by a lessee of the covenants contained in a lease removes the contract from the statute of frauds and authorizes a court of equity to decree the specific performance of the agreement by the lessor." *Id.* Likewise, in *Wharf Restaurant, Inc. v.*

 ¹ Massachusetts Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Associated Dry Goods Corp., 786 F. Supp. 1403 (N.D. Ind. 1992); Dover Shopping Center, Inc. v. Cushman's Sons, Inc., 63 N.J. Super.
 384, 164 A.2d 785 (1960) (granting a preliminary injunction to force an anchor tenant to continue to operate based on the threat to the viability of the shopping center).
 ² Lorch, Inc. v. Bessemer Mall Shopping Center, Inc., 294 Ala. 17, 310 So. 2d 872 (1975) (reversing injunction, due to complexity of performance and difficulty of oversight).
 ³ Hamilton W. Dev. v. Hills Stores Co., 959 F. Supp. 434, 441 (N.D. Ohio 1997) (finding circumstances presented in this case would justify an order requiring specific performance if lease contained express operating covenant).

Port of Seattle, 24 Wn. App. 601, 605 P.2d 334 (1979), the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's order granting the former tenant a decree of specific performance requiring the landlord to renew the former tenant's lease for a five-year term and voiding the lease between the landlord and the new tenant. *See also Feigenbaum v. Brink*, 66 Wn.2d 125, 130-31, 401 P.2d 642 (1965) (holding "specific performance will lie to enforce the landlord's duty to repair"); *Hedgecock v. Mendel*, 146 Wash. 404, 414-15, 263 P. 593 (1928) (specifically enforcing a lease assignment over the landlord's objection); *Carpenter v. Folkerts*, 29 Wn. App. 73, 76, 627 P.2d 559 (1981) ("[A] lease containing a lessee's option to purchase is enforceable by specific performance.").

There is also authority awarding specific performance to a landlord. *See Crafts v. Pitts*, 161 Wn.2d 16, 25, 162 P.2d 382 (2007) (affirming order of specific performance requiring tenant to transfer a quitclaim deed into trust).

There is no question that Tenant could enjoin Bellevue Square from, for example, violating any of the restrictive covenants and "exclusives" that it negotiated. (CP 166-67.) Why should Tenant's Operating Covenant not be enforceable as well?

The Opinion's basic thesis is that "paying rent is enough" and that money damages can remedy all *harms* that a landlord may suffer if a

tenant chooses to ignore an operating covenant.⁴ This policy shift would have devastating effects on commercial landlords if it were given (even implicitly) the force of law. It essentially amounts to a holding that money is an adequate remedy for any breach by a **tenant** to a lease, while landlords may be compelled to specifically perform their duties.

At a time when the retail industry is in a state of significant change, it is essential to the business of a shopping center to rely on the continued operation of tenants that have agreed not just to pay money, but **to operate in a specific manner**.

The enforceability of operating covenants has massive implications beyond whether a tenant may be forced to continue to operate against its will (or to reopen, if they close in bad faith as Tenant did). Operating covenants are also vital to governing tenants who operate voluntarily. Commercial leases do not merely involve the exchange of space for the payment of rent. They address such issues as what hours a store maintains, what inventory it stocks, and the permitted use in the premises. If a clothing store at Bellevue Square started to sell sporting goods, fresh fruit, and marijuana, the Opinion's reasoning posits that a check from the tenant would be an "adequate remedy" for Landlord's harm.

⁴ "[T]he lease gives Bellevue Square a plain, complete, speedy and adequate remedy at law." (Opinion, p. 2.)

By reversing the injunction with confused and confusing reasoning, the Opinion has potentially rendered lease covenants unilateral as a matter of law. It is difficult to envision a better test case regarding enforcement of an operating covenant. This is not a tenant on the brink of insolvency; it is one of the most successful companies in the world. Nor are the equities unclear or in relative balance. The Opinion concedes that Tenant agreed to an Operating Covenant. Tenant nonetheless gave Bellevue Square 15 minutes' notice before conducting a closure sale.

If the Court does not reverse the Opinion and enforce the Operating Covenant in this case, it potentially excises such covenants from every commercial lease and invites any tenant to behave with equal bad faith. In short: if Whole Foods can do this, anyone can. The Court should address this vital issue.

C. The Opinion's Reasoning Conflicts with Precedent.

The Opinion reached an incorrect ruling and created patently incorrect law on multiple issues; including several issues where existing Washington authority reaches a contrary result.

The Opinion Applied the Incorrect Standard of Review.

The Opinion begins with the faulty predicate that "[t]he interpretation of a lease is a question of law that this court reviews de novo." (Opinion, p. 6.) This proposition is misleadingly incomplete.

1.

"A lease is a contract." *City of Puyallup v. Hogan*, 168 Wn. App. 406, 430, 277 P.3d 49 (2012) (citing *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990)). "The interpretation of a contract can be a mixed question of law and fact." *Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. USF Ins. Co.*, 164 Wn.2d 411, 424 n. 9, 191 P.3d 866 (2008). "When a court relies on inferences drawn from extrinsic evidence, interpretation of a contract is a question of fact." *Viking Bank v. Firgrove Commons 3, LLC*, 183 Wn. App. 706, 712, 334 P.3d 116 (2014) (emphasis added).

The trial court's interpretation of the Lease relied on hundreds of pages of extrinsic evidence. The factual findings of the trial court, which were not contradicted by Tenant, should have been afforded deference in a review for abuse of discretion. Instead, the Opinion treated the Lease's interpretation as a purely legal issue and afforded it no deference.

This Court has held that such deference is appropriate when a trial court weighs documentary evidence:

Appellate courts give deference to trial courts on a sliding scale based on how much assessment of credibility is required; the less the outcome depends on credibility, the less deference is given to the trial court. However, substantial evidence is more appropriate, even if the credibility of witnesses is not specifically at issue in cases such as this where the trial court reviewed an enormous amount of documentary evidence, weighed that evidence, resolved inevitable evidentiary conflicts and discrepancies, and issued statutorily mandated written findings.

Dolan v. King County, 172 Wn.2d 299, 311, 258 P.3d 20 (2011).

Despite Landlord's argument for a substantial evidence standard of review, the Opinion glossed over the trial court's analysis of the factual extrinsic documentary evidence and offered its own illogical "plain meaning" analysis under the guise of *de novo* review. It then misread the contract, ignored the equities, and reached the wrong result.

If the substantial evidence standard is inapplicable to a case such as this, the Court should clarify the continuing applicability of *Dolan* and *Viking Bank*. If the cases are still good law, then the Opinion applied the incorrect standard on review.

2. Disregard of the Context Rule Is Contrary to Authority.

The trial court carefully reviewed extrinsic evidence regarding lease negotiations, including those surrounding the Operating Covenant. It correctly concluded that Landlord is entitled to specific performance. The Opinion, on the other hand, merely considered the "plain language"⁵ of the Lease, not the extrinsic evidence. It thus erroneously concluded that "[t]he plain and unambiguous language of the lease does not support the trial court's conclusion." (Opinion, p. 7.) In analyzing solely the express language of the Lease, the Opinion concluded that "under the express terms of the lease, the right . . . to specific performance and injunctive

⁵ (*See* Opinion, pp. 1-2, 7.)

relief does not apply beyond the circumstances specifically described in section 10.1(b)(ii)." (Opinion, p. 14.)

Washington courts uniformly apply the "context" rule to avoid such myopic interpretations. "To interpret a contract, we must determine the parties' intent, for which we apply the 'context rule'." *Fedway Marketplace W., LLC v. State*, 183 Wn. App. 860, 871, 336 P.3d 615 (2014); see also Tanner Elec. Coop. v. Puget Sound Power & Light, 128 Wn.2d 656, 674, 911 P.2d 1301 (1996); *Roats v. Blakely Island Maint*. *Comm'n, Inc.*, 169 Wn. App. 263, 274, 279 P.3d 943 (2012); *Shafer v. Bd. of Trs. of Sandy Hook Yacht Club Estates, Inc.*, 76 Wn. App. 267, 275, 883 P.2d 1387 (1994).

The context rule allows a court, when "viewing the contract as a whole, to consider extrinsic evidence, such as the circumstances leading to the execution of the contract, the subsequent conduct of the parties and the reasonableness of the parties' respective interpretations." *Fedway Marketplace W., LLC,* 183 Wn. App. at 871. This rule applies "**even when the disputed provision is unambiguous**." *Id.* (emphasis added); *see also Spectrum Glass v. PUD of Snohomish,* 129 Wn. App. 303, 311, 119 P.3d 854 (2005).

In *Hollis v. Garwall, Inc.*, 137 Wn.2d 683, 694-97, 974 P.2d 836 (1999), this Court was asked whether courts should apply the "context

rule" in analyzing restrictive covenants. The Court resolved the split between the divisions and answered in the affirmative. *Id.*

The Opinion is in derogation of the context rule. It does not even acknowledge the extrinsic evidence in its Lease analysis. It thus produced the kind of staggeringly incorrect interpretation that the context rule was designed to avoid: that Landlord has an absolute right to an operating covenant, but absolutely no remedy to enforce it. This Court should reaffirm that courts are bound to do more than look for "plain meaning."

3. Construing Specific Performance to Apply Merely to "Further Defaults" in Payment Is Erroneous.

To reverse the trial court and thwart Bellevue Square's right to injunctive relief, the Opinion had to explain away the obvious right to specific performance enumerated in Section 10(b)(ii), which allows Landlord to "specifically enforce Tenant's obligations hereunder and obtain injunctive relief from further defaults and breaches." (CP 189.)

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