FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/13/2019 3:12 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97069-6 (Court of Appeals No. 77770-0-I)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BELLEVUE SQUARE, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Petitioner,

v.

WHOLE FOODS MARKET PACIFIC NORTHWEST, INC., a Delaware corporation; and WHOLE FOODS MARKET, INC., a Texas corporation,

Respondents.

### RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

One Union Square
600 University Street, Suite 2700
Seattle, WA 98101-3143
(206) 467-1816
rsulkin@mcnaul.com
meaton@mcnaul.com
cisacke@mcnaul.com

McNAUL EBEL NAWROT & HELGREN PLLC

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

## A. Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) Is Not Justified

## 1. The Opinion Resolved the Parties' Dispute on the Lease Terms Rather than Public Policy Grounds

BS argues that the Opinion affects a far-reaching "policy shift" in Washington, allowing all commercial tenants "to ignore an operating

covenant" in their leases. Pet. 9-10. Accordingly, BS asserts that review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Opinion and BS's Petition present "an issue of substantial public interest." Pet. 7-11.

BS's premise is deeply flawed. In fact, the Court of Appeals resolved this appeal on extremely narrow grounds—whether the parties to this Lease agreed to allow specific performance of the operating covenant provision. App. 6, 14. The Opinion did not announce or modify policy in Washington, either regarding injunctions or real estate law. And, contrary to BS's suggestion, the Opinion does not foreclose enforcement of commercial "operating covenants" writ large.

As the Court of Appeals explained, a party seeking a preliminary injunction carries the burden of demonstrating three factors, the first of which is that "he has a clear legal or equitable right." App. 5 (quoting *Tyler Pipe Indus., Inc. v Dep't of Revenue*, 96 Wn.2d 785, 792, 638 P.2d 1213 (1982)). In a contract case, the question of whether a right exists depends on the language of the contract at issue. App. 6. Here, "[w]hether BS has a clear legal and equitable right to specific performance is governed by the language of the lease." *Id*.

The Court of Appeals scrutinized the Lease language at issue and found that the parties did not expressly agree to allow BS the right of specific performance of the operating covenant provision. App. 7-15. This

close analysis spanned no fewer than nine pages—the large majority of the Opinion. *Id.* Indeed, the Court of Appeals recited and analyzed virtually every relevant Lease provision. *Id.* BS simply ignores this reasoning and context for the Opinion. Indeed, BS barely even cites the Opinion in crafting its RAP 13.4(b)(4) argument. Pet. 7-11.

The Court of Appeals concluded: "under the express terms of the [L]ease, the right of BS to specific performance and injunctive relief does not apply [to the operating covenant]." App. 14. By resolving the case on this antecedent issue, the Opinion's precedential value is very limited.

There are countless ways the Court could have—but chose not to—issue a precedential or broad policy opinion. The Court could have concluded, as courts in other jurisdictions have, that a continuous operation clause is unenforceable except against non-anchor tenants. It did not. The Court could have concluded, as other courts have, that a continuous operation clause is unenforceable absent "existential" risk to a commercial landlord. Again, it did not. The Court could have determined that it was contrary to Washington judicial policy to invoke equity where it would place courts in the business of managing ongoing commercial relationships. Here, again, the Opinion hued narrowly.

Instead, the Court of Appeals concluded only that these parties to this Lease did not agree to allow specific performance of the purported

operating covenant, and, in the absence of such provision, the Court would not intercede in equity. App. 1-2. This contract law opinion is not an issue of "public interest." *See State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (issue is of "substantial public interest" where it controls other public interest litigation). The Court should decline review.

# 2. The Opinion Is Consistent with Washington Law Regarding the Use of Injunctions

To the extent the Opinion has any precedential value, it does not create "new" law. To the contrary, the Opinion faithfully implements Washington law governing injunctions. As BS has itself recognized, "[i]t has been held in Washington that there is an adequate remedy at law in damages for the breach of a lease agreement." CP 326 (quoting *Washington Tr. Bank v. Circle K Corp.*, 15 Wn. App. 89, 93, 546 P.2d 1249 (1976)). Here, the Court of Appeals found that the record was devoid of evidence that BS has suffered harm insusceptible to compensation through an award of monetary damages. App. 6, 14.<sup>2</sup> This is dispositive.

Crafts v. Pitts, 161 Wn.2d 16, 162 P.3d 382 (2007), is not suggestive or controlling of a different outcome here. Crafts concerned an option to purchase land contained in a lease. It has long been held, in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The record amply supports this result. WFM presented evidence (from a forensic accounting and damages expert) and argument that BS's damages were purely hypothetical, and to the extent not hypothetical, monetary in nature. *See* CP 383-85. The Court agreed with WFM, correctly noting that if harms may be remedied by money damages, an injunction is improper. App. 6.

Washington and elsewhere, that land purchase agreements are uniquely appropriate for the specific performance remedy. *See Foster v. Nehls*, 15 Wn. App. 749, 753, 551 P.2d 768 (1976). BS has never cited any authority ordering specific performance on any other type of lease term that can be remedied by an award of damages.

Even if it were otherwise, Washington law and policy is clear that the courts will not extend the extraordinary power of equity to mandate and monitor actions of private commercial actors over an extended period of time. In *Cahalan Inv. Co. v. Yakima Cent. Heating Co.*, 113 Wash. 70, 74–75, 193 P. 210 (1920), this Court announced that the judiciary would not step in and retain oversight over a private enterprise for an extended time period because such a function is inconsistent with the role of the judicial system.<sup>3</sup> The Opinion is consistent with that authority too.

Furthermore, the Opinion closely patterns authority from other jurisdictions regarding the availability of injunctive relief to enforce continuous operation clauses where the parties did not expressly agree to such enforcement. For example, in *Hamilton W. Dev., Ltd. v. Hills Stores* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The overwhelming majority of jurisdictions have denied a landlord's request to enjoin a tenant's continuous operation for this reason. *See*, *e.g.*, *8600 Associates*, *Ltd. v. Wearguard Corp.*, 737 F. Supp. 44, 46 (E.D. Mich. 1990) ("If a court would be required to assume continuous duties of supervision, injunctive relief is inappropriate and must be denied."); *New Park Forest Assocs. II v. Rogers Enters.*, *Inc.*, 195 Ill.App.3d 757, 552 N.E.2d 1215, 1220 (1990) (denying an injunction due to "enforcement problems for a court" since "the court would find itself in the business of managing a shopping center").

Co., 959 F. Supp. 434, 439 (N.D. Ohio 1997), a case cited by both parties below, the federal court considered a closely analogous operating covenant. In that case, the court denied an injunction because it found the parties did not expressly agree to specific enforcement of a clear continuous operation clause. The same reasoning applies here.<sup>4</sup>

BS's only rejoinder is to intentionally conflate this case with litigation to enforce restrictive covenants. Pet. 10. BS argues the Opinion will have "massive implications" for restrictive covenant litigation. *Id*. This too is incorrect. Nowhere does the Opinion state that a commercial landlord is forbidden from proving irreparable, non-monetary harm for violation of a restrictive covenant. The Court of Appeals merely found that BS had failed to prove non-monetary harms necessary to sustain a request for a mandatory, compelled-operations injunction here. App. 1-2. The Opinion has no precedential value for restrictive covenant litigation.

In sum, this may be a fact pattern of "first impression" in Washington but the Court of Appeals resolved the parties' dispute on antecedent and well-worn contract and injunction law issues. There is no "substantial public interest" in review here.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In contrast, in *Simon Property Group, L.P. v. Starbucks Corp.*, No. 49D01-1708-PL-032170 (Nov. 27, 2017), another case cited by the parties below, the court reached a different result but only because the parties repeatedly and unambiguously agreed to specific enforcement of a clear continuous operation clause within the continuous operation clause itself. *Id.* at FOF 17. As carefully detailed by the Court of Appeals here, the Lease language differs starkly. *See* App. 7-15.

- B. Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) Is Not Warranted Because the Opinion Does Not Conflict with Existing Washington Law
  - 1. The Court of Appeals Applied the Proper Standard of Review and Was Not Required to Comment on Extrinsic Evidence

BS next argues that this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) because, while the Court of Appeals interpreted the Lease as a matter of law under a de novo standard (App. 6), it should have applied a substantial evidence standard since BS presented extrinsic evidence below. Pet. 11. BS is incorrect for at least three reasons.

First, the Court of Appeals was not required to apply a substantial evidence standard because it did not reach the issue of extrinsic evidence at all. App. 7-15. And, it was not required to do so. While BS correctly cites law that a Court may consider extrinsic evidence in applying the words in a contract, no Washington law requires a Court to look beyond unambiguous language. See RSD AAP, LLC v. Alyeska Ocean, Inc., 190 Wn. App. 305, 315, 358 P.3d 483 (2015) ("[E]xtrinsic evidence relating to the context in which a contract is made may be examined ...." (emphasis added)). This is particularly true where, as here, the contract contains a merger clause. See id. (extrinsic evidence not "admissible under the parol evidence rule to add to the terms of a fully integrated written contract"); CP 455 ¶ 18.12 ("This Lease embodies the entire agreement between Landlord and Tenant with respect to the subject matter hereof and

supersedes and cancels any and all previous negotiations ....").

Second, even if it were otherwise, the extrinsic evidence obliquely referenced by BS here—concerning BS's subjective and unexpressed beliefs and internal deal requirements—is not relevant or admissible extrinsic evidence in the first instance. *See RSD AAP, LLC*, 190 Wn. App. at 315-16. The negotiations cited by BS below do not reveal any mutual understanding of relevant terms, much less an understanding that varies the language. CP 16-112. Even under the authority BS cited here, this evidence is irrelevant. *See Fedway Marketplace W., LLC v. State*, 183 Wn. App. 860, 872, 336 P.3d 615 (2014). It was error for the trial court to rely on this evidence. *See id.*; *RSD AAP, LLC*, 190 Wn. App. at 315-16. It was not error for the Court of Appeals to reject consideration of this evidence.

Third, BS is incorrect insofar as it implies the Court of Appeals' failure to expressly reject BS's extrinsic evidence was error. Where the Court does not specifically analyze issues, Washington law presumes that those issues were resolved against the party with the burden of proof. *See Taplett v. Khela*, 60 Wn. App. 751, 759, 807 P.2d 885 (1991). Here, BS bore the burden of proving the Lease supported its request for a mandatory injunction. App. 5-6. The Opinion is consistent with a judicial conclusion that the extrinsic facts were either improper, irrelevant, or did not carry significance in interpreting the plain language of the Lease.

# 2. The Court of Appeals Correctly Interpreted the Clause Governing BS's Right to Continue the Lease

Next, BS criticizes the Court of Appeals' reading of the Lease provision at Paragraph 10.1(b)(ii), which provides that, if the Landlord elects to continue the Lease notwithstanding a default, the "Landlord shall be entitled ... to specifically enforce Tenant's obligations hereunder." CP 451 ¶ 10.1(b)(ii). The Court determined that the entitlement to specific performance "hereunder" meant specific performance of further defaults. App. 13. BS claims this reading must be incorrect because it would allow specific performance of monetary obligations only. Pet. 15. BS is wrong. 5

The specific provision governs BS's right to "continue the Lease" if WFM breaches. CP 450-51 ¶ 10.1(b)(ii). In such case, BS may:

Maintain Tenant's right to possession, in which case this Lease shall continue in effect whether or not Tenant has vacated or abandoned the Demised Premises. In such event Landlord shall be entitled to enforce all Landlord's rights and remedies under this Lease, including the right to recover the Rent, damages from Tenant's default or breach, and any other payments as they may become due hereunder, and to specifically enforce Tenant's obligations hereunder and obtain injunctive relief from further defaults and breaches ....

*Id.* This paragraph recognizes that the status quo at the time of BS's election may be that WFM "has vacated or abandoned" the premises. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As a threshold matter, it must be noted that, even if BS's contract interpretation were correct (and it is not), this does not justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2), which rules allow review only if the decision below conflicts with established authority. Interpretation of an idiosyncratic contract provision does not and cannot conflict with established authority. BS does not and cannot present authority to the contrary.

provision contains no language suggesting BS has the right to change that status quo. To the contrary, the clause lays out remedies BS may have "[i]n such event"—i.e. given this circumstance. *Id*. The only reference to an injunction in the paragraph plainly applies to "further" breaches by WFM.<sup>6</sup> This is revealing of the parties' intent. *See Aspon v. Loomis*, 62 Wn. App. 818, 826, 816 P.2d 751 (1991) (in construing contracts "the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another"). If the parties had intended to allow BS to obtain a court order forcing WFM to operate a Store for up to a decade, the Lease would have mentioned it. It does not.

Drawing back to examine Paragraph 10.1 in full reveals at least three other reasons why BS's interpretation fails. First, the subparagraph addressing BS's cumulative remedies contrasts the terms "remedies hereunder" and "remedy which [BS] may have under this Lease":

Landlord's remedies hereunder are cumulative and Landlord's exercise of any right or remedy due to a default or breach by Tenant shall not be deemed a waiver of, or to alter, affect or prejudice any right or remedy which Landlord may have under this Lease or by law.

CP 451 ¶ 10.1(b)(iv). Re-phrased, if BS triggers a remedy in accordance with the landlord's remedies Paragraph 10.1 (i.e. "hereunder"), BS does not waive any other "right or remedy which Landlord may have under this Lease." Necessarily, "hereunder" and "under this Lease" have different

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> A "further" breach might occur if, for example, WFM breached restrictive covenants in the Lease by converting the Store into a tire store. *Infra* p. 17. There is no "further" breach here so that reference is irrelevant.

meanings. This undermines BS's broader interpretation of "hereunder." *Bellevue Sch. Dist. No. 405 v. Bentley*, 38 Wn. App. 152, 159, 684 P.2d 793 (1984) ("When the same word is used in different parts of a contract it is presumed that the word means the same throughout.").

Second, in cases where the parties intended to broadly state "in accordance with this Lease" in Paragraph 10.1, they did so expressly; they did not use the term "hereunder." Paragraph 10.1(a)(iii) describes an Event of Default triggering BS's remedial rights to include WFM's "failure to observe or perform any of the other covenants, conditions, or provisions of this Lease." CP 450. If the term "hereunder" was intended as BS suggests, the parties would have substituted "of this Lease" for "hereunder." They did not. *See Bellevue Sch. Dist. No. 405*, 38 Wn. App. at 159.

Third, as explained further below, Paragraph 10.1 contains a limit on BS's remedies: The duty to mitigate damages. CP 451 ¶ 10.1(c)(i). This duty expressly applies even if BS elects to continue the Lease after WFM vacates. *Id.* This duty is contrary to BS's interpretation, which would create an implicit right to a mandatory injunction for continued operations.

Finally, the broader Lease language reveals that where BS and WFM intended to make injunctive relief applicable to specified covenants and obligations, they did so expressly and within the Paragraphs defining those covenants and obligations. *See*, *e.g.*, CP 447 ¶ 7.1(d)(iii). There is no

such express agreement in the "operating covenant." See CP 448-49  $\P$  7.2. This is telling. See Bellevue Sch. Dist. No. 405, 38 Wn. App. at 159.

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